UC Berkeley

IURD Working Paper Series

Title

Sustainable Development and Sustainable Transportation: Strategies for Economic Prosperity, Environmental Quality, and Equity

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0m1047xc

Author

Deakin, Elizabeth

Publication Date

2001-05-01

Working Paper 2001-03

Sustainable Development and Sustainable Transportation:

Strategies for Economic Prosperity, Environmental Quality, and Equity

Elizabeth Deakin

This paper was prepared with partial support of the California Futures Network.

University of California at Berkeley Institute of Urban and Regional Development

Table of Contents

Abstract	5
Introduction and Overview	6
Transportation Strategies for Sustainable Development	7
Economic Considerations	13
Key Issues for Sustainable Transportation Planning	14
Sustainable Transportation: An Emerging Strategy	16
An Emerging Role for Regional Agencies	19
Next Steps: Directions for Research	20
References and Bibliography	21
Sustainable Economic & Urban Development	
Livable Communities	
State Policy Works on Growth	
Low Density Development/Sprawl	28
Regional Coordination and Planning	29
Increasing Density/Compact Development	29
Reversing Inner City Decline and Protecting Aging Inner Ring	
Suburbs	30
Affordable Housing	31
Changing Household Structure/Needs	32
Racial and Economic Segregation	33
Job Access/Dispersal	34
LULUs	35
Third World and Developing Countries	
Rural Economic Sustainability	
Global Sustainability	
Sustainable Development and Public Policy	
Planning Methods: Organizational Design	
Values/Ideology	41
List of Tables	
Table 1: Strategies for Transportation Management: A Partial List	8
Table 2: Strategies for Sustainable Development	17



Sustainable Development and Sustainable Transportation:

Strategies for Economic Prosperity, Environmental Quality, and Equity

Elizabeth Deakin

Abstract

Concerns about environmental quality, social equity, economic vitality, and the threat of climate change have converged to produce a growing interest in the concept of sustainable development. Efforts are being made all over the world to increase the sustainability of development patterns. In nations with more advanced economies, particular attention is being paid to the critical roles played by transportation, land use, and activity systems. This paper reviews current thinking about sustainable transportation as part of a broader strategy of transportation and land use planning for sustainability.

Strategies for increasing transportation sustainability include demand management, operations management, pricing policies, vehicle technology improvements, clean fuels, and integrated land use and transportation planning. In the past, planning and implementation of such strategies has been slow and spotty, deterred by the complexities of the underlying issues along with uncertainties about the magnitude and timing of impacts, the efficacy of available courses of action, and the consequences of action or inaction. Recently, however, a new interest in actively pursuing these strategies has emerged. Regional planners are increasingly being asked to take a leadership role in these planning efforts, applying their expertise to analysis of the issues and creating forums for discussion, conflict resolution, and joint undertakings.

The paper concludes with an identification of topics deserving additional research, as well as a detailed bibliography on sustainable development topics.

Introduction and Overview

Concerns about environmental quality, social equity, economic vitality, and the threat of climate change have converged to produce a growing interest in the concept of sustainable development. One definition of sustainable development was put forth in 1992 by the Brundtland Commission: "Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." CO₂ reduction, as called for in the Kyoto Protocol and other agreements, is an important objective; however, sustainability has quickly been transformed into a much broader concept having economic, social, and environmental dimensions. Today, sustainable development is widely viewed as development that improves the standard of living and quality of life, while at the same time protecting and enhancing the natural environment and honoring local culture and history. Efforts are being made all over the world to increase the sustainability of development patterns.

In developed nations, special attention is being given to the sustainability of current and emerging land use and transportation patterns. This focus reflects both the significant impacts that current patterns of transportation have on the environment and the complex interactions between transportation, land use, and activity systems. In this context, sustainable transportation is seen as transportation that meets mobility needs while also preserving and enhancing human and ecosystem health, economic progress, and social justice now and for the future. Planning for sustainable development aims to attain all three objectives simultaneously and in a just manner, considering access as well as mobility in the process. ¹

This paper examines strategies for sustainable transportation as a principal component of sustainable development. A variety of strategies have been identified for potentially increasing transportation sustainability, including demand management, operations management, pricing policies, vehicle technology improvements, clean fuels, and integrated land use and transportation planning. In the past, planning and implementation of such strategies have been slow and spotty, deterred by the complexities of the underlying issues along with uncertainties about

-

¹ Increasingly, the idea of sustainability has come to be understood as a collective process for considered decision-making and action, and not simply a particular end-state or outcome. Also, the concept is broad enough to include a variety of initiatives—ranging from cleanup and redevelopment of brownfields to inner city revitalization to energy-efficient transportation—and planning for sustainable development increasingly involves strategic coordination of efforts along all of these lines.

the magnitude and timing of impacts, the efficacy of available courses of action, and the consequences of action or inaction. Recently, however, a new interest in actively pursuing these strategies has emerged.

Regional planners are increasingly being asked to take a leadership role in these planning efforts. There are several reasons for this. First, the regional level is appropriately scoped to many of the economic, social and environmental phenomena of concern (regional economics, watersheds, airsheds, urban traffic sheds, etc.). Second, regional agencies typically are repositories for much of the data needed to address traffic and urban development issues, and the planners working for these agencies typically are trained in the modeling and forecasting techniques that are used in the analyses.

On the other hand, at least in the US, regional agencies rarely have the same level of political accountability that national, state or local agencies have, and this can be a drawback if the legitimacy of their proposals is challenged. Debate also continues over the range of options that might appropriately be used. Market approaches, changes in technologies, and regulatory approaches are all under discussion. Some favor market approaches as a more cost-effective strategy, especially in the short run. Others believe that a multi-pronged strategy will be necessary both to accomplish the needed reductions and to assure a modicum of equity. Consensus has yet to emerge on the paths to follow toward sustainability, though new insights emerging from ongoing research may eventually provide direction.

The paper discusses key issues raised in pursuing sustainable transportation, drawing largely from the US experience. A summary of the transportation strategies that have been proposed is presented. Key planning and policy issues then are discussed. The paper concludes with some proposals for research and a bibliography.

Transportation Strategies for Sustainable Development

Table 1 presents a partial list of the transportation strategies that have been suggested as supportive of sustainable development. The strategies are grouped into several categories based on the component of the transport system addressed: vehicles, guideways and operations, and demand.

The first category of strategies would reduce adverse environmental impacts of motor vehicle use through technological change in vehicles and fuels. In the short run, this would most likely focus on strategies for improving the efficiency of conventional vehicles in order to reduce emissions of pollutants and greenhouse gases. In the longer run, the

Table 1. Strategies for Transportation Management: A Partial List

Vehicle / Fuel Technological Changes:

- 1. Improved Efficiency of Conventional Vehicles
 - ♦ Manufacturer Innovations / Supplier Offerings
 - Responses to Consumer Demand
 - ♦ Responses to Government Regulation and Incentives: CAFE Standards,
 R&D Partnerships, Taxes, Rebates, Subsidies
- 2. New Vehicle Technologies
- 3. New Fuels

Road / Vehicle Operations Improvements:

- 1. Conventional Traffic Flow Improvements
 - Traffic Signal Timing
 - Ramp Metering
 - ♦ Flow Metering
 - ♦ Bottleneck Removal

2. Intelligent Transportation System Improvements

- ♦ Smart Highways
- ♦ Smart Vehicles
- ♦ Accident / Incident Management
- ♦ Routing and Scheduling Enhancements
- 3. Driver Education
- 4. Improved Logistics and Fleet Management

Demand Management:

- 1. Modal Substitution
 - Transit, Paratransit, Ridesharing, Walking, Biking Improvements and Incentives
 - ♦ Rail Substitutes for Truck

2. Telecommunications Substitutions

- **♦** Telecommuting
- ♦ Teleshopping
- ♦ Teleconferencing
- ♦ Distance Learning
- Information Technology-Enhanced Routing and Scheduling (Passengers, Freight)

3. Pricing Incentives / Disincentives

- ♦ Gas Tax Increases
- Vehicle Sales Tax Based on Fuel Efficiency and Expected Life
- Vehicle Registration / License Fee Based on Fuel Efficiency, Use (Measured or Estimated)
- ♦ Other Impact Fees Based on Use
- Subsidies for Preferred Modes, Telecommunications Substitutes, Etc.

4. Land Use –Transportation Strategies

- ♦ Compact Development
- ♦ Mixed Use Development
- ♦ Higher Development Densities
- ♦ Transit, Pedestrian, Bike Friendly Development

introduction of new vehicle technologies and new fuels might be an option and could lead to quieter, safer and cleaner vehicles. In either time frame, a variety of specific steps could be considered. For example, changes could be induced through consumer (demand-side) incentives or disincentives, through incentives offered to vehicle producers (e.g., tax credits), or through direct regulation of vehicle manufacturers (e.g., Corporate Average Fleet Efficiency (CAFE) standards, safety standards).

A second category of strategies involves improvements to the roadways and vehicle operations. Conventional traffic flow improvements such as traffic signal timing, ramp metering, flow metering, and bottleneck removal all have the potential to cut energy use, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and lower noise levels somewhat by smoothing the flow of traffic and reducing stop-and-go driving. Driver education could reduce emissions by training drivers to avoid heavy accelerations and decelerations and to be mindful of the fuel consequences of high speeds. Scheduling trips outside of the peak periods could reduce congestion and thereby cut a major source of economic loss. Improved methods of accident/incident management and improved logistics and fleet management, both relying increasingly on advanced technologies for vehicle location and communication, also have substantial promise for increased efficiency of operations. Information technology-enhanced routing and scheduling can reduce the fuel needed for transport of both passengers and freight. Technological innovations currently under development offer the potential for significantly larger gains. These include the more advanced aspects of intelligent transportation system improvements such as smart highways and smart vehicles.

Demand management is a third category of strategies for managing the transportation system. Several subcategories of demand management are in use. Modal substitution, telecommunications substitution, pricing, and land use strategies all can be thought of as forms of demand management.

Modal substitution means, for example, replacing car trips with transit, paratransit, ridesharing, biking and walking for personal travel and substituting rail for truck and air freight. This can be accomplished by providing better modal options (offering services and improving their quality in order to attract travel to alternative modes) or through incentives for the use of the alternative modes (e.g., subsidies for users of preferred modes). Regulatory requirements (trip reduction ordinances requiring employers to obtain commute mode shares of no more than 50% by drivealone, for example) are also a possible way to induce modal substitution.

Telecommunications substitutions for travel also can be considered a form of demand management. Telecommuting, teleshopping, teleconferencing, and distance learning are varieties of telecommunications substitutes for travel.

Pricing incentives and disincentives could be used in the short run to reduce demand and encourage the use of alternative modes or the substitution of telecommunications for travel. In the longer run, vehicle technology improvements would likely be induced by the higher prices. Gas tax increases are the pricing strategy most commonly used in the US and abroad. Fees and taxes that affect vehicle ownership, such as sales taxes and registration fees, also are common. Variations that base taxes and fees on fuel efficiency, emissions, and expected vehicle life could specifically target the reduction of greenhouse gases as could "fee-bate" variations offering tax reductions for efficient, low emissions vehicles along with surcharges for high emitters. Or pricing strategies could base emissions or fuel surcharges on measured or estimated use (VMT/VKT). Finally, rather than use pricing to restrain emissions directly, pricing could take the form of subsidies for preferred modes or for telecommunications substitutes.

Land use and urban development strategies alter demand by reducing trip length (by providing a choice of close-by destinations) or by making alternatives to the auto more competitive and cost-effective. (These strategies also may reduce emissions associated with building heating and cooling, service provision, etc.) For example, compact development, mixed use development, and higher development densities can reduce trip lengths and make transit, pedestrian, and bike use practical and affordable. In some cases, compact development also may facilitate better management of urban freight transport (shipment consolidation, delivery scheduling, etc.).

This list of strategies will sound familiar to most transportation professionals. The same list has been used for many years in the search for strategies to reduce air pollution emissions and to manage traffic congestion. Indeed, many of the strategies on the list have been in use for decades. Fuel taxes are in place and are periodically increased. Highway departments and local traffic engineering offices routinely use traffic operations strategies to increase capacity and reduce environmental impact. Transit services and (in the US) ridesharing programs are offered throughout most metropolitan areas and in rural ones as well. Land use strategies promoting infill, compact development, and mixed use are promoted in numerous cities and suburbs.

The widespread use of many of the listed strategies is both an advantage and a drawback. It is an advantage because it means that established programs are in place to offer evidence of efficacy and potentially to serve as a base for further expansion or innovation. It is a drawback because it means that many of the strategies will already be fully deployed where they are cost-effective, with their benefits already captured. Further deployment in these circumstances could produce limited results and in some circumstances could even produce disbenefits. (As an example, consider the impacts of deploying fixed route bus service in low density areas where the service is little utilized; emissions and fuel use per passenger carried can be higher than would occur by using autos or taxis to serve the trips.) Hence, the issue is whether market niches for which these strategies might effectively be applied still exist or whether new markets can be "built" by, for example, increasing densities in suburban locations to make them more transit-friendly.

For some of the strategies, many would respond that there are indeed more markets to be served. For example, traffic signal timing and other operations improvements are in common use, but many localities have lacked the resources to upgrade equipment or to retime their signals on a regular basis. They could benefit from a funded traffic signal management program. Similarly, few localities have had the resources to fully implement bicycle networks, pedestrian improvements, and traffic calming programs, and ISTEA and TEA-21 funds for such strategies are oversubscribed. Transit operators and ridesharing service providers often have lists of unfunded improvements, and few have even begun to explore the possibilities for shuttle services, subscription buses, and other innovations. Not all of these strategies would necessarily be cost-effective from a greenhouse gas reduction perspective, but some surely would be.

Other strategies remain in the early stages of deployment and a strategic effort to implement them might produce meaningful results. This is the case, for example, for many of the strategies involving advanced technologies for highway and transit operations. It also may be the case for certain vehicle and fuel technology strategies, where the wider implementation of experiments and demonstration projects could be useful.

Land use strategies have recently begun to capture the attention of many interest groups, and studies and small programs to test these strategies' transportation effectiveness are underway. Here, too, wider experimentation and systematic evaluation could be useful.

Pricing strategies are often controversial, particularly when applied to items that formerly have been available "free" (as have been most roads

in the US, for example). Nevertheless, some local governments and private operators are successfully managing parking pricing, and variable tolls and "value pricing" have been implemented on a handful of US highway facilities. In the US, where fuel taxes remain far lower than in other developed countries, proposed gas tax increases, "fee-bates," emissions fees, and the like have been evaluated in several major studies, but so far implementation has not occurred due to concerns about equity and opposition to any strategy that looks like a tax hike. Nevertheless, there is enough interest in these strategies to consider a larger effort toward their implementation than has occurred to date.

How effective would the various transportation strategies be in reducing congestion, lowering pollutant and greenhouse gas emissions, cutting fuel use, and otherwise reducing the adverse impacts of current transportation systems? The Transportation Research Board investigated this topic in a 1997 report focused on greenhouse gas emissions. Scenarios were developed which represented different approaches to the problem. One scenario emphasized demand management and land use planning. A second scenario targeted improvements in vehicle efficiency. A third emphasized fuel price increases. A fourth strategy assumed the introduction of new vehicle technologies.

Drawing upon evidence in the literature from modeling studies and field experiments, estimates of greenhouse gas reductions were produced for each scenario. The results, which are for the US, were as follows (TRB Special Report 251, 1997):

- From aggressive demand management and land use planning strategies: 6% reduction by 2020, 15% by 2040
- From a 1.5% annual increase in average new vehicle fuel efficiency: 15–20% reduction by 2020, 35% by 2040
- From higher fuel prices amounting to a 3% increase per year: 20% reduction by 2020, 40% by 2040
- From the introduction of new low-emissions vehicles (5% of fleet by 2020, 35% by 2040): no significant change by 2020, 30% reduction by 2040.

The TRB study concluded that, assuming that these scenario testing results are approximately correct, meeting Kyoto Protocol reductions would require either aggressive changes in vehicles (fuel efficiency levels, technologies) or their fuels, or a combination of vehicle, fuel, and demand management strategies. No one strategy was seen as offering a "silver bullet" for the greenhouse gas emission problem, nor

was any strategy seen as having significantly fewer costs, economic or otherwise, than the others.

Economic Considerations

One issue that has been raised in the past about the various strategies for sustainable transportation is: What will their economic consequences be? Transportation investments, particularly in highways, have been seen (in the US at least) as engines of economic growth and development. Because environmental considerations have been viewed as constraints on the expansion of the transportation system, they also have been seen as potential brakes on economic growth. Widespread concerns are that environmental protection is costly and that economic losses could result from interference with market preferences for auto mobility and suburban living. The implication that we therefore must trade off our desire for environmental protection with our desire for economic development has permeated many policy discussions.

Recently, however, a broader view of these issues has emerged. Work documenting the social and environmental consequences of transport (e.g., DeLucchi, 1996–1998) has made it clear that consumers are typically paying only a portion of the full costs of their transportation choices, particularly in the US. At the same time, there has been growing recognition that many transportation projects have not been subjected to rigorous economic analysis, and hence may not themselves be cost-effective. Models are currently being developed by the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (MicroBen-Cost) and the Federal Highway Administration (The HERS model) in hopes of improving the economic analysis of transport projects.

The courts also have stepped in, requiring that the land development consequences of new transport investments be clearly and explicitly evaluated and reported (Illinois Tollway, 1998). The Illinois Tollway court case, and several others currently pending, is part of a trend in the US to insist on formal analysis of a wider-ranging set of impacts of transportation projects than had been done in the past. Recognizing the need for such analyses, the FHWA Travel Model Improvement Program intends to produce models ready for deployment in the next few years; these models should be capable of providing details on emissions, vehicle usage, incidence of impact, and many other topics of concern. In the meantime, both FHWA and the Environmental Protection Agency have developed simplified methods and guidance for analyzing a variety of transportation, land use, and environmental measures.

The emerging view, then, is that economic development and environmental protection are both desired objectives along with social justice (equity); that transportation planners should be pursuing strategies that deliver on all counts, not just on the economic front; and that analyses should reflect the full range of concerns about projects—economic, social, and environmental.

Key Issues for Sustainable Transportation Planning

We turn next to some of the issues that would have to be addressed in designing and carrying out an invigorated search for transportation strategies which can simultaneously support economic development, protect the environment, and improve social justice. The issues range from uncertainties about the nature and severity of environmental problems, to questions about the extent to which transportation strategies should be used in attacking these problems, to debates over which transportation strategies are most pragmatic and efficacious.

Uncertainties About the Problems

Important uncertainties persist about the nature and severity of many environmental problems, including transportation-related air pollutants, greenhouse gas emissions, and even noise. (For example, what are the health effects of long term low-dose exposures?) Uncertainties also persist concerning the economic benefits of transportation infrastructure investments. (See, e.g., Boarnet, 1997). Such uncertainties make it difficult to have a clear story about the need for change or the likely results of intervention and, coupled with the high stakes involved, make it hard to muster the political support needed for action.

Scope and Timing of Technology Change

Technological advances in the automotive industry and other sectors of the economy have considerable potential to reduce air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, congestion, and a variety of other negative externalities of the automobile. For example, aggressive technology deployments, whether in the form of changes in conventional vehicles or through the introduction of radically different vehicle and fuel technologies, could produce most of the needed reductions in greenhouse gas emissions for the next several decades. And to many, the prospect of "invisible" technological change is far more inviting than the prospect of higher prices or other demand reduction strategies.

However, such technology deployments are by no means assured or may emerge far later than their advocates are predicting. In addition, price, availability, and performance characteristics are all uncertain, but are important considerations in comparing the technology option to other alternatives.

Another issue is that in the absence of public policy direction the technological changes that do emerge may or may not be directed to environmental improvements or other socially beneficial ends. For example, in the US at present many advances in automotive technology are being applied to increase acceleration and performance or strengthen vehicle bodies, not to boost efficiency or cut greenhouse gas emissions. A variety of interventions could change this directly or indirectly—higher CAFE standards and higher gas taxes are but two of many possibilities. Thus both market studies and studies of potential supplier and consumer incentives or disincentives for technological change would be valuable.

Public Opinion and Support for Action

Consumer preferences are a key driver of transportation and urban development trends. In the US, while polls generally find widespread support for environmental protection and enhancement, they also suggest that many consumers are not yet ready to alter their travel behavior or consumer purchases because of congestion, air pollution, or the threat of global warming. (See, e.g., Stoffer, 12/22/97.) For example, suburban utility vehicles and trucks continue to grow in popularity despite their comparatively low fuel economy, and drive-alone mode shares are increasing.

Many analysts believe that changes in pricing policy, such as higher fuel taxes or full-cost pricing for parking, could substantially change consumer choice. However, public opposition to such measures continues to make their implementation doubtful. Changes in public attitudes might be forthcoming as public understanding of greenhouse gas issues increases, but so far there is little evidence that this is occurring in the US. Indeed, polls, focus groups, and other measures of public knowledge and attitudes suggest that the greenhouse issue is barely on the radar screen for most citizens, and pricing strategies are commonly thought of as new taxes rather than cost recovery or impact mitigation.

Changes in travel behavior resulting from changes in land use and location, modes offered and chosen, and overall activity patterns also would depend on public support for policy changes, along with individual, household, and business decisions consonant with those changes. Here, the increasing interest in "livable communities" and "sustainable development" suggests a growing movement favoring broad policy reform. It remains to be seen, however, whether these new initiatives can

develop enough support to significantly change the patterns of settlement and transportation consumption. Here, the long time frame of greenhouse gas reduction efforts is an advantage, since there is enough time that land use policies could take hold.

Because public opinion and public support for action are so important to implementation, it would be highly worthwhile to devote more attention to the topic as a research element. In particular, it would be valuable to study how, and the extent to which, citizens make connections between their concern for the environment, the transportation policies they and their elected officials espouse, and their own behavior.

Sustainable Transportation: An Emerging Strategy

In the last several years, sustainability initiatives have been undertaken in a number cities and regions. Among the recent undertakings in North America, for instance, are the Maryland Smart Growth Initiatives, the Portland OR 2040 Plan, Sustainable San Francisco, Sustainable Toronto, Sustainable Seattle, and The Bay Area Alliance for Sustainable Development. These efforts follow upon the 1987 report of the World Commission on Environment and Development (commonly called the Brundtland Commission report) and, in the US, on the President's Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD) report, "Sustainable America: A New Consensus," which argued that sustainable development can only be achieved by building sustainable communities.

Reflecting the recommendations and action items in those precedent documents, the local and regional efforts typically focus on the interrelationships among transportation, housing and employment trends and policies, and the resulting consequences for the environment (especially air quality), energy use, economic prosperity, and social equity. They often are developed through a process involving a wide range of interests (business leaders, environmentalists, social justice advocates, etc., as well as public officials and agency staff members). Often, they involve the negotiation of procedural agreements as well as the development of performance indicators and specific actions to be undertaken.

Table 2 lists some of the strategies that are proposed in sustainable development plans. As the table shows, the strategies range from land use planning to transportation, housing, and economic development, and linkages and overlaps are strong.

Transit-oriented development is often an important element of sustainable development plans. The intent is that by clustering high density mixed use development in a pedestrian-oriented layout around

Table 2. Strategies for Sustainable Development

Land Use and Community Development

- Preservation, Rehabilitation, and Redevelopment of Central Cities and High Density Inner Suburbs
- ♦ Infill in Cities and Suburbs Increased Density, Mixed Use
- Reusing Brownfields, Recycling Buildings
- ♦ TODs and PODs as the Paradigm for New Developments
- Quality of Life: Attention to Crime / Schools / Services / Amenities
- Recycling / Precycling / Composting Programs

Transportation

- ♦ Access vs. Mobility Basic Concepts
- ♦ Bike- and Pedestrian-Friendly Cities
- ♦ Transit, Paratransit, Ridesharing
- ♦ Telecommuting / Teleconferencing
- New Technologies for Improved Efficiency: evs, Traffic Control Systems, Transportation Information Systems
- ♦ Prices and Subsidies Aligned with Sustainability

Housing and Other Building Designs

- ♦ A Range of Choices
- ♦ Energy Efficient Buildings
- ♦ Edible Landscaping
- ♦ Natural / Indigenous Plants

Business/Job Creation

- ♦ Business Leadership
- Community Economic Development
- ♦ Clean / Safe Technologies

Social Equity

- ♦ Aligning Taxes and Subsidies with Sustainable Development
- Equitable Distribution of Resources

major transit nodes, residents and users of the resulting district will be able to reduce auto use while maintaining high levels of accessibility and mobility. Accomplishing these objectives is a major challenge, however. Finding appropriate sites for development near transit is not always an easy task. When sites are available, there still may be difficulty in interesting developers in the sites, especially if they are also being asked to deal with the added complexities of mixed use development. Markets for such living and working arrangements are clearly present in some regions, but are less apparent in others. Lenders may be disinterested in such projects and often charge premium rates because they believe the risk to be higher than for a single use or greenfield site project.

Redevelopment of brownfields is an even more challenging element of many sustainable development plans. Brownfields are abandoned or underutilized parcels of land that contain, or are suspected to contain, some level of contamination. Most brownfields are located in urban areas, especially central cities and older suburbs. A National Conference of Mayors report surveyed 149 US cities and found more than 47,000 acres of brownfields in the 122 cities reporting them. In addition to the contamination itself, lost opportunities for economic development and the jobs and tax revenues it brings are a major concern.

Traditionally, brownfield sites have been thought of as suitable only for light commercial or industrial redevelopment, but increasingly reevaluations are being done which suggest that many sites could be appropriate for a multitude of uses, including housing and office space, wildlife habitat, parks, open space and recreation. Many brownfield sites are in areas already served by transit and therefore have some potential for higher density infill. But on top of the usual concerns about costs, marketability, and risks, brownfield sites pose additional challenges: the cost and uncertainties of site clean-up, potential long-term liability, and concern about economically viable end uses. The US Environmental Protection Agency and some states have active programs to encourage redevelopment of brownfields, but the funds available to support these efforts are modest.

Programs sponsored by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development also are supportive of sustainable development efforts; Community Development Block Grant funds and Enhanced Enterprise Zone designations are two examples of programs that have sometimes supported sustainable transportation and land use strategies. CDBG funds have been used for bicycle and pedestrian improvements, traffic calming and transit village planning, for example. Again, however, the demand far outstrips available funding.

Coordinating the programs to produce an overall impact greater than could be produced by any one program is a major thrust of sustainable development plans. This itself poses challenges, since the programs traditionally have been handled by different organizations whose operating styles and expectations can be quite different. Still, the potential for important synergies seems real and, at least on paper, many of the plans appear to be quite impressive. Documenting and evaluating these sustainability initiatives—both their institutional framework and the substance of their accomplishments—could provide valuable models for other areas wishing to follow suit.

An Emerging Role for Regional Agencies

In the US, states and some cities and towns have developed important strategies for sustainable transportation. Only a few plans for sustainable transportation have been developed at the regional level. Increasingly, however, regional agencies are being called upon to carry out a role in sustainable development planning. Their involvement is sought because the regional agencies have the data, the expertise, and the scope needed to address sustainability issues at a metropolitan level.

On the other hand, most regional agencies in the US are voluntary associations of local government (as well as the designated recipients of federal and state funds for planning). As voluntary associations, the regional agencies typically lack the strong political base, the visibility, the accountability and, as a result, the legitimacy that would be needed to implement their plans. Indeed, many regional agencies' planning efforts are largely ignored as transportation programs are assembled by state departments of transportation and local governments make individual, often uncoordinated, land use decisions.

As the interest in sustainable development has grown, however, people have realized that regional agencies can serve two important functions. One is a technical support function, with regional agency staff carrying out the forecasting exercises, simulations, and empirical studies needed to effectively analyze each strategy's social, economic, and environmental effects as well as any synergies or conflicts that may result from simultaneous implementation of multiple strategies. In this regard, those agencies with strong technical skills and an ability to do fast turnaround analyses have a decided advantage.

A second function for regional agencies is as a forum for discussion and negotiation among local governments. If regional agencies can serve as the place to network, trade information, develop cooperative agreements for joint action, and resolve conflicts if necessary, they can

begin to build the links between localities' individual plans and to suggest strategic ways to develop a regional approach. This, together with stronger analytical support, offers strong hope for an improved regional process and, ultimately, for a stronger alignment of economic objectives with social and environmental goals in urban development planning.

Next Steps: Directions for Research

This review of the opportunities and problems in fashioning a more sustainable transportation system suggests several areas for research. In particular, the following kinds of research programs are needed:

Evaluation Research on the Effectiveness of Sustainability Strategies: As experience accumulates with measures being proposed as sustainable development/sustainable transportation strategies, it will be important to document the range of experiences and evaluate their effectiveness.

Consumer Responses to Sustainability Strategies: Concerns about potential public opposition to such strategies as higher density development and full cost pricing frequently have blocked their serious consideration, even though analyses suggest that these strategies would be highly effective. Very little hard research has been done to document actual public opinion on these topics, however. Even less research has been done to understand the underlying reasons for the concerns that may exist. Research into consumer responses to sustainability strategies could help policy makers and planners develop ways to alleviate concerns and increase public acceptance, or could point to other strategies worth trying.

Research on Effective Planning Processes and Institutional Arrangements: Evaluation research is needed to document effective planning practices and institutional arrangements for sustainable development planning, as well as to identify practices and arrangements that are problematic and in need of reform. Research is also needed to develop better methods and procedures for planning and better institutional arrangements, recognizing that sustainable development planning is likely to be multi-objective, multi-subject, and multi-participant.

Comparative Research: Since efforts on sustainability are occurring in many countries, comparative research looking to the experiences of other countries would likely be highly instructive for US planners and policy makers.

References and Bibliography

Sustainable Economic & Urban Development

- United States: Economic Development & Urban Sustainability
- Alic, John A. "Technological Change, Employment, and Sustainability." *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 55(1):1–13, May 1997.
- Barraclough, Solon. "Food and Poverty in the Americas: Institutional and Policy Obstacles to Efficiency in Food Aid." *Development in Practice* 7(2):117–129, May 1997.
- Bevington, Douglas. "Buffalo Commons: A Range of Possibilities." *Capitalism, Nature, Socialism* 7(4)28:138–145, December 1996.
- Buell, John, and DeLuca, Tom. "Sustainable Democracy: Individuality and the Politics of the Environment."
- Cairns, John Jr., and Dickson, Kenneth L. "Individual Rights Versus the Rights of Future Generations: Ecological Resource Distribution over Large Temporal and Spatial Scales."
- Chekki, Dan A. "The Local-Group Nexus of Environment and Community Empowerment Research." *Community Sociology* 7:3-18, 1997.
- Clarke, Susan E., and Gaile, Gary L. "Local Politics in a Global Era: Thinking Locally, Acting Globally." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 551:28–43, May 1997.
- Deva, Indra. "Towards a More Meaningful Study of Ecology, Society and Culture." *Sociological Bulletin* 46(1):1–19, March 1997.
- Deville, Adrian, and Turpin, Tim. "Research and Ecologically Sustainable Development: How Will We Know What We Want to Know?" *Science and Public Policy* 24(2):123–134, April 1997.
- Drakakis-Smith, David. "Third World Cities: Sustainable Urban Development III—Basic Needs and Human Rights." *Urban Studies* 34(5-6):797–823, May 1997.
- Ekstrom, Carl D., and Pei, Xiaomei. "A Connection: The Elderly and Sustainable Futures."
- Foster, John Bellamy. "Sustainable Development of What?" *Capitalism, Nature, Socialism* 7(3)27:129–132, September 1996.
- Gale, Fred P. "The Mysterious Case of the Disappearing Environmentalists: The International Tropical Timber

- Organization." *Capitalism, Nature, Socialism* 7(3)27:103–117, September 1997.
- Gamble, Dorothy N., and Weil, Marie O. "Sustainable Development: The Challenge for Community Development." *Community Development Journal* 32(3):210–222, July 1997.
- Graves-Brown, Paul. "From Highway to Superhighway: The Sustainability, Symbolism and Situated Practices of Car Culture." *Social Analysis* 41:64–75, March 1997.
- Heiman, Michael K. "Community Attempts at Sustainable Development through Corporate Accountability." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 40(5):631–643, Sept. 1997.
- Hodge, Tony. "Toward a Conceptual Framework for Assessing Progress Toward Sustainability." *Social Indicators Research* 40(1-2):5–98, 1997.
- Hofmeister, Sabine. "Nature's Temporalities: Consequences for Environmental Politics." *Time & Society* 6(2-3):309–321, July 1997.
- Ingman, Stanley R; Pei, Xiaomei; Ekstrom, Carl D.; Friedsam, Hiram J.; and Bartlett, Kristy R. "An Aging Population, An Aging Planet And A Sustainable Future."
- Jackson, Tony, and Roberts, Peter. "Greening the Fife Economy: Ecological Modernization as a Pathway for Local Economic Development." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 40(5): 615–629, Sept. 1997.
- Jacob, Merle. "Critical Theory in Political Practice: Sustainable Development and Development Theory Science." *Technology & Society* 2(1):99–129, Jan–Jun 1997.
- Jamieson, Dale. "Greening Public Policy: Sustainability and Beyond." *Science as Culture* 6(2)27: 277–283, 1997.
- Kellogg, Wendy, and Maser, Chris. "Resolving Environmental Conflict: Towards Sustainable Community Development." *The International Journal of Conflict Management* 7(3):275–281, July 1997.
- Laws, Glenda. "Population Aging, Elderly People and the Environment."
- Mathur, Hari Mohan. "Participatory Development: Some Areas of Current Concern." *Sociological Bulletin* 46(1):53–95, March 1997.
- Michalos, Alex C. "Combining Social, Economic and Environmental Indicators to Measure Sustainable Human Well-Being." *Social Indicators Research* 40(1-2):221–258, 1997.

- Minerbi, Luciano. "Sustainability Versus Growth in Hawaii." *Social Process in Hawaii* 35:145–160, 1994.
- Najam, Adil; Ghai, Dharam; and Vivian, Jessica M. "Grassroots Environmental Action: People's Participation in Sustainable Development." *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 26(3): 378–381, Sept 1997.
- Nesmith, Cathy, and Harcourt, W., eds. "Feminist Perspectives on Sustainable Development." *Gender, Place and Culture* 3(3):341–342, September 1996.
- Nurul Amin, A. T. M. "Economics of Rural–Urban Relations Reexamined in the Light of Growing Environmental Concerns." *Regional Development Studies* 1 (Winter):27–54, 1994–95.
- Oelschlaeger, Max. "Ethical Considerations of Sustainable Futures."
- Pezzoli, Keith. "Sustainable Development: A Transdisciplinary Overview of the Literature." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 40(5):549–601, Sept. 1997.
- Shearer, Rhonda; Braidotii, Roland; Charkiewicz, Rosi; Hausler, Ewa; Wieringa, Sabine and Saskia. "Women, the Environment and Sustainable Development: Towards a Theoretical Synthesis." *Signs* 22(2):496–501, Winter 1997.
- Spink, Amanda. "Information and a Sustainable Future."
- Street, Penny. "Scenario Workshops: A Participatory Approach to Sustainable Urban Living?" *Futures* 29(2):139–158, March 1997.
- Tonn, Bruce E., and White, Dennis L. "Sustainable Societies in the Information Age." *The American Sociologist* 27(1):102–121, Spring 1996.
- Wallimann, Isidor. "Downsizing Industrial Society: Ways to Distribute Scarcity and to Enhance the Ability to Sustain Life."

Livable Communities

- Anglin, Roland. Attitudes of Urban and Non-Urban Residents Toward Local Growth and Growth Management. Working Paper No. 15. Piscataway, NJ: Center for Urban Policy Research, Rutgers University, 1990.
- Audirac, Ivonne; Shermyen, Anne H.; and Smith, Marc T. "Ideal Urban Form and Visions of the Good Life: Florida's Growth Management Dilemma." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 1(56)4, Autumn 1990.

- Bernick, Michael, and Cervero, Robert. *Transit Villages in the 21st Century*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1997.
- Bookout, Lloyd W. "Neotraditional Town Planning: Cars, Pedestrians, and Transit." *Urban Land* 51(2), February 1992.
- Bookout, Lloyd W. "Neotraditional Town Planning: The Test of The Marketplace." *Urban Land* 51(6), June 1992.
- Bookout, Lloyd W. "Neotraditional Town Planning: Toward a Blending of Design Approaches." *Urban Land* 51(8), August 1992.
- Bragado, Nancy et al. *Building Livable Communities: A Policymaker's Guide To Infill Development*. Sacramento, CA: Center For Livable Communities, 1995.
- Calthorpe, Peter, and Mack, Mark. "Pedestrian Pockets: New Strategies for Suburban Growth." *Northern California Real Estate Journal* 2(11), February 1, 1988.
- Cervero, Robert. "California's Transit Village Movement." *Journal of Public Transportation* 1(1), Fall 1996.
- Cervero, Robert, and Kockelman, Kara. "Travel Demand And The 3Ds: Density, Diversity, And Design." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 2D(3), Sept. 1997.
- Cervero, Robert, and Landis, John. "Why The Transportation-Land Use Connection Is Still Important." *TR News* 187, Nov.-Dec. 1996.
- Cervero, Robert, and Radisch, Carolyn. *Travel Choices in Pedestrian Versus Automobile Oriented Neighborhoods*. Working Paper No.
 281. Berkeley: University of California Transportation Center,
 1995.
- Chen, Don. "Linking Social Equity With Livable Communities." In *Just Transportation: Dismantling Race And Class Barriers To Mobility*. Gabriola Island, BC: New Society Publishers, 1997.
- City of Los Angeles, Department of City Planning. Amendment—
 Proposed Ordinance Amending Section 13.00 of the Los Angeles
 Municipal Code to Permit the Establishment of Pedestrian
 Oriented Districts in Areas of the City. Los Angeles, CA: 1989.
- Committee for Economic Development/Research and Policy Committee.

 Rebuilding Inner-City Communities: A New Approach to the
 Nation's Urban Crisis/A Statement by the Research and Policy
 Committee of the Committee for Economic Development. New
 York: Committee for Economic Development, 1995.

- Corbett, Judy, and Zykofsky, Paul. *Building Livable Communities: A Policymaker's Guide To Transit-Oriented Development.*Sacramento, CA: Center For Livable Communities, 1996.
- "Documentation on Art in Public Places." Selected From Presentations at the International Making Cities Livable Conferences. Carmel, CA: IMCL Council, 1990.
- Easley, Gail. "Staying Inside the Lines: Urban Growth American Planning Association." *Planning Advisory Service*, Report No. 440, 1992.
- Fulton, William B. *The New Urbanism: Hope or Hype for American Communities?* Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1996.
- Gardiner, Richard A. *Design for Safe Neighborhoods: The Environmental Security Planning and Design Process.* Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Law Enforcement Assistance Administration National Institute of Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice 1978. Available through the Supt. of Docs, US Govt. Printing Office, 1979.
- Gordon, Peter, and Richardson, Harry W. *The Case for Suburban Development*. Lusk Center Research Institute, School of Urban and Regional Planning, University of Southern California. San Ramon, CA: Building Industry Association of Northern California, 1996.
- Groves, Alvin L. "Just Add Water: Pedestrian-Oriented Riverfront Development." *Western City* 65(10), October 1989.
- Higgins, Laura L. *Public Transit And Livable Communities: An Evaluation of the LCI Demonstration Project In Corpus Christi*.

 College Station, TX: Southwest Region University Transportation Center, Texas Transportation Institute and Springfield, VA. Available through the National Technical Information Service, 1997.
- Katz, Peter et al. *The New Urbanism: Toward an Architecture of Community*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- Knack, Ruth Eckdish. "Repent, Ye Sinners, Repent: Neotraditional Town Planning in the Suburbs." *Planning* 55(8), August 1989.
- Knapp, Gerrit J. "The Price Effects of Urban Growth Boundaries in Metropolitan Portland, Oregon." *Land Economics* 61(1), February 1985.

- Lennard, Suzanne H. et al.. Livable Cities: People And Places: Social And Design Principles For the Future of the City. Southampton, NY: Gondolier Press, 1987.
- "Livable Neighborhoods: Community Redevelopment in San Diego, California." *Journal of Housing and Community Development* 54(5):18, Sept-Oct 1997.
- Lowe, Marcia D. "How to Make Cities More Humane: Creating Village Communities in Urban Areas." *Utne Reader* 51:104, May-June 1992.
- Milazzo, Joseph S. et al. "Revised Pedestrian Analysis Procedures for a Livability-Oriented Profession." Transportation and Sustainable Communities: Challenges and Opportunities for the Transportation Professional, 1997 ITE International Conference, Tampa, Florida. Washington, DC: Institute of Transportation Engineers, 1997.
- Neuss, Carl F. The Anatomy of a Failed Growth Management and Housing Policy: A Case Study on the Impacts of an Anti-Growth Public Policy on Local Housing Markets, Banking Institutions, the Regional Economy, and the Pattern of Development. San Diego, CA: Buie Corp, 1992.
- 1000 Friends of Oregon. *Making The Connection*. Volume 7, A Summary of the LUTRAQ Project Integrating Land-Use And Transportation Planning For Livable Communities. Portland, OR: 1000 Friends of Oregon, 1997.
- Partners for Livable Places. *Toward Livable Communities: A Report*. Washington, DC: Partners for Livable Places, 1983.
- Sayer, Jim. Bound For Success: A Citizens' Guide to Using Urban Growth Boundaries for More Livable Communities and Open Space Protection in California. San Francisco, CA: Greenbelt Alliance, 1997.
- Southworth, Michael. *Walkable Suburbs? An Evaluation of Neotraditional Communities at the Urban Edge*. Working Paper No. 639.

 Berkeley, CA: Institute of Urban and Regional Development, University of California, 1995.
- Transit Cooperative Research Program. *The Role of Transit in Creating Livable Metropolitan Communities*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1997.
- US Department of Housing and Urban Development. Neighborhood

 Development Demonstration Program: Case Study Examples in

- Neighborhood Development and Grass Roots Fundraising. Community Information Exchange. Washington, DC: 1987.
- US Department of Housing and Urban Development/Office of Policy
 Development and Research. *Empowerment: A New Covenant with America's Communities: President Clinton's National Urban Policy Report.* Washington, DC: US Department of Housing And Urban Development, Office of Policy Development And Research, 1995.
- US Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration et al. *Transportation Planning for Livable Communities*. Washington, DC: 1993.
- US Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration. *Livable Communities Initiative: Program Description*. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, 1994.
- ———. Planning, Developing, and Implementing Community-Sensitive Transit: Livable Communities Intiative. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, 1997.
- US Department of Transportation. *Building Livable Communities Through Transportation*. Washington, DC: 1996.
- ——. *Wanted: Walkable Communities.* Washington, DC: US Department of Transportation, S.L.:S.N, 1998.
- Wade, Beth. "Reverse Commuting: Transit Takes a Turn." *American City* & *County* 109(9):30, August 1994.
- Weissman, Steve, and Corbett, Judy. *Land Use Strategies For More Livable Places*. Sacramento: Local Government Commission, 1992.

State Policy Works On Growth

California

- California Little Hoover Commission. *Making Land Use Work: Rules to Reach Our Goals*. Sacramento, CA: California Little Hoover Commission, 1995.
- California State Senate Office of Research. *Does California Need to Manage Urban Growth? A Report from the Senate Urban Growth Policy Project.*Sacramento, CA: California State Senate, 1989.
- Prosperity, Equity, and Environmental Quality: Meeting the Challenge of California's Growth: Final Findings and Recommendations.
 Sacramento, CA: California State Senate, 1991.

- Governor's Interagency Council on Growth Management. *Strategic Growth: Taking Change of the Future: A Blueprint for California*. Sacramento, CA: The Council, Governor's Office of Planning and Research, 1993.
- Sanders, Steve. Managing Growth in California: A Blueprint for Economic and Environmental Recovery. Sacramento, CA: California State Senate, 1993.

Other States

Summaries of state laws and state growth managment reports, available on the APA Growing Smart project web page.

Low Density Development/Sprawl

- American Planning Association. *Modernizing State Planning Statutes: The Growing Smart Working Papers*. Volume 1. Chicago: American Planning Association, 1996.
- Bank of America, California Resources Agency, Greenbelt Alliance and the Low Income Housing Fund. *Beyond Sprawl: New Patterns of Growth to Fit the New California*. San Francisco: Bank of America, 1995.
- Brower, D. J.; Godschalk, D.R.; and Porter, D.R., eds. *Understanding Growth Management: Critical Issues and a Research Agenda*.

 Washington, DC: Urban Land Institute and the Center for Urban and Regional Studies, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 1993.
- Campbell, Scott. "Green Cities, Growing Cities, Just Cities? Urban Planning and the Contradictions of Sustainable Development." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 62(3):296–312, 1996
- Deakin, Elizabeth. "Growth Control: A Summary and Review of Empirical Research." *Urban Land* 48(7):16–21, 1989.
- ———. State Programs for Managing Land Use, Growth, and Fiscal Impact: A Report to the Senate Office of Research. Berkeley, CA: California Policy Seminar, University of California at Berkeley, 1990.
- De Grove, John M., and Miness, Deborah. *The New Frontier for Land Policy: Planning and Growth Management in the States*.

 Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1992.

- Feitelson, Eran. "The Spatial Effects of Land Use Regulation: A Missing Link in Growth Control Evaluations." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 59(4):461–481, 1993.
- Fischel, W.A. Do Growth Controls Matter? A Review of Empirical Evidence on the Effectiveness and Efficiency of Local Government Land Use Regulations. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1990.
- Glickfeld, M., and Levine, N. *Regional Growth, Local Reaction*. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1992.
- Landis, John. "Do Growth Controls Work? A New Assessment." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 57(3):489–506, 1992.
- Landis, John, and Bradshaw, Ted. *How Shall We Grow? Alternative*Futures for the Greater San Francisco Bay Region. Berkeley, CA:
 California Policy Seminar, University of California at Berkeley,
 1993.
- Nelson, Arthur C., and Duncan, James B. *Growth Management Principles* and *Practices*. Chicago: American Planning Association Planners Press. 1995
- Stein, Jay M., ed. *Growth Management: The Planning Challenge of the* 1990s. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 1993.

Regional Coordination and Planning

- Downs, Anthony. *New Visions for Metropolitan America*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press/Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1994.
- Orfield, Myron. *Metropolitics: A Regional Agenda for Community and Stability*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press/Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1997.

Increasing Density/Compact Development

- Audirac, I.; Shermven, A.H.; and Smith, M.T. "Ideal Urban Form and Visions of the Good Life: Florida's Growth Management Dilemma." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 56(4):470–478, 1990.
- Calthorpe, Peter. *The Next American Metropolis: Ecology, Community, and the American Dream.* New York: Princeton Architectural Press, 1993.

- Cervero, Robert. "California's Transit Village Movement." *Journal of Public Transportation* 1(1):103–130, 1992.
- Cervero, Robert; Hall, Peter; and Landis, John. *Transit Joint Development in the United States*. Monograph No. 42. Berkeley: Institute of Urban and Regional Development, University of California, 1992.
- Davis, Judy S.; Nelson, Arthur C.; and Dueker, Kenneth J. "The New 'Burbs: The Exurbs and their Implications for Planning Policy." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 60(1):45–57, 1994.
- Young, Dwight, ed. *Alternatives to Sprawl*. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1995.

Reversing Inner City Decline and Protecting Aging Inner Ring Suburbs

- Carmon, Naomi. "Neighborhood Regeneration: The State of the Art." *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 17(2), 1997.
- Galster, George C. Neighborhood Evaluations, Expectations, Mobility, and Housing Reinvestment: Measuring the Social Impacts of Community Development Corporations. New York: Community Development Research Center, 1990.
- Galster, George C., and Hill, Edward W., eds. *The Metropolis in Black and White: Place, Power, and Polarization*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers Center for Urban Policy Research.
- Galster, George C., and Mincy, Ronald B. "Understanding the Changing Fortunes of Metropolitan Neighborhoods: 1980 to 1990." *Housing Policy Debate* 4(3), 1993.
- Goldsmith, William W., and Blakely, Edward J. *Separate Societies: Poverty and in Equality in US Cities*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1992.
- Halpern, Robert. Rebuilding the Inner City: A History of Neighborhood Initiatives to Address Poverty in the United States. New York: Columbia University Press, 1995.
- Hughes, Mark Alan. "Moving Up and Moving Out: Confusing Ends and Means About Ghetto Dispersal." *Urban Studies* 24:503–617, 1987.
- Kasarda, John. "Inner-City Concentrated Poverty and Neighborhood Distress: 1970–1990." *Housing Policy Debate* 4(3), 1993.
- Orfield, Myron. *Metropolitics: A Regional Agenda for Community and Stability*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press/Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1997.

- Squires, Gregory D. *Capital and Communities in Black and White*. Albany: State University of New York Press, 1994.
- Vidal, Avis C. Rebuilding Communities: A National Study of Urban Community Development Corporations. New York: Community Development Research Center, New School for Social Research, 1992.
- ------. "Reintegrating Disadvantaged Communities into the Fabric of Urban Life: The Role of Community Development." *Housing Policy Debate* 6(1), 1995.
- Wilson, William Julius. *The Truly Disadvantaged: The Inner City, the Underclass, and Public Policy*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1987.
- ——. When Work Disappears: The World of the New Urban Poor. New York: Knopf, 1996.

Affordable Housing

- Advisory Commission on Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing. *Not in My Backyard: Removing Barriers to Affordable Housing*. Washington, DC: Advisory Commission on Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing, 1991.
- Removing Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing: How States and Localities Are Moving Ahead. Washington, DC: Advisory Commission on Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing, 1992.
- Baer, William C. "Housing in an Internationalizing Region: Housing Stock Dynamics in Southern California and the Dilemmas of Fair Share." *Environment and Planning D-Society and Space* 4:337–349, 1986.
- Bratt, Rachel G. "Community-Based Housing: Strengths of the Strategy Amid Dilemmas That Won't Go Away." In *The Affordable City: Toward a Third Sector Housing Policy*, ed. John Emmues Davis. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1994.
- Burchell, R.W. Regulatory Approaches to Affordable Housing: A Review of State and County Programs. New Brunswick, NJ: Center for Urban Policy Research, Rutgers Univerity, 1992.
- Downs, Anthony. "The Advisory Commission on Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing: Its Behavior and Accomplishments." *Housing Policy Debate* 2(4):1139–1160, 1991.

- ------. "Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 58(4):419–422, Autumn 1992.
- Goetz, Edward G. "Promoting Low Income Housing through Innovations in Land Use Regulations." *Journal of Urban Affairs* 13(3):337–351, 1991.
- Hare, Patrick H., and Danbury, John. "Accessory Units: An Increasing Source of Affordable Housing." *Public Management* 73(9), 1991.
- Keyes, Langley C.; Schwartz, Alex; Vidal, Avis C.; and Bratt, Rachel G. "Networks and Nonprofits: Opportunities and Challenges in an Era of Federal Devolution." *Housing Policy Debate* 7(2):201–229, 1996.
- Kleit, Rachel Garshick. "Housing, Social Networks, and Access to Opportunity: Modeling the Benefits of Mixed-Income Housing." Conference of the Association of Collegiate Schools of Planning, Ft. Lauderdale, FL, 1997.
- Lowry, Ira S., and Ferguson, Bruce W. *Development Regulation and Housing Affordability*. Washington, DC: Urban Land Institute, 1992.
- Nenno, Mary K. "State and Local Governments: New Initiatives in Low-Income Housing Preservation." *Housing Policy Debate* 2(2):467–497, 1991.
- Schill, Michael H. "The Federal Role in Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Affordable Housing in the Suburbs." *Journal of Law and Politics* 8(4):703–730, 1992.
- Stegman, Michael A., and Holden, J.D. Nonfederal Housing Programs:

 How States and Localities are Responding to Cutbacks in Low
 Income Housing. Washington, DC: The Urban Land Institute,
 1987.
- Walker, Christopher. "Nonprofit Housing Development: Status, Trends, and Prospects." *Housing Policy Debate* 4(3):369–414, 1993.

Changing Household Structure/Needs

- Netter, Edith, and Price, Ruth G. "Zoning and the Nouveau Poor." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 48(2), 1983.
- Pader, Ellen J. "Spatial Relations and Housing Policy: Regulations that Discriminate Against Mexican-Origin Households." *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 13:119–135, 1994.

- Pollak, Patricia Baron. "Rethinking Zoning to Accommodate the Elderly in Single Family Housing." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 60(4):521–531, 1994.
- ——. "Zoning as a Tool for Shared Housing." In *Under One Roof: Issues and Innovations in Shared Housing*, eds. George C.

 Hemmens, Charles J. Hoch, and Jana Carp. Albany: State
 University of New York Press, 1996.

Racial and Economic Segregation

- Abramson, Alan J., Tobin, Mitchell S.; and VanderGoot, Matthew R. "The Changing Geography of Metropolitan Opportunity: The Segregation of the Poor in US Metropolitan Areas, 1970 to 1990." *Housing Policy Debate* 6(1), 1995.
- Bogart, William T. "What Big Teeth You Have!': Identifying the Motivations for Exclusionary Zoning." *Urban Studies* 30(10):1669–1681, 1993.
- Briggs, Xavier de Souza. "Moving Up Versus Moving Out: Neighborhood Effects in Housing Mobility Programs." *Housing Policy Debate* 8(1):195–234, 1997.
- Burchell, R.W; Listokin, D.; and Pashman, A. Regional Housing Opportunities for Lower-Income Households: An Analysis of Affordable Housing and Regional Mobility Strategies. New Brunswick, NJ: Center for Urban Policy Research, Rutgers University, 1994.
- Clay, Phillip L. "The Un-Housed City: Racial Patterns of Segregation, Housing Quality and Affordability." In *The Metropolis in Black and White: Place, Power and Polarization*, eds. George C. Galster and Edward W. Hill. New Brunswick, NJ: Center for Urban Policy Research, Rutgers University, 1992.
- Farley, Reynolds, and Frey, William H. "Changes in the Segregation of Whites from Blacks During the 1980s: Small Steps Toward a More Racially Integrated Society." *American Sociological Review* 59:23–45, February 1994.
- Farley, Reynolds et. al. "Continued Racial Residential Segregation in Detroit: 'Chocolate City, Vanilla Suburbs' Revisited." *Journal of Housing Research* 4(1):1–38, 1993.
- Galster, George C. "Housing Discrimination and Urban Poverty of African-Americans." *Journal of Housing Research* 2(2):87–122, 1991.

- Galster, George C., and Killen, Sean P. "The Geography of Metropolitan Opportunity: A Reconnaissance and Conceptual Framework." *Housing Policy Debate* 6(1), 1995.
- Keating, W. Dennis. *The Suburban Racial Dilemma: Housing and Neighborhoods*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1994.
- Massey, Douglas S., and Denton, Nancy A. *American Apartheid:*Segregation and the Making of the Underclass. Cambridge, MA:
 Harvard University Press, 1993.
- Massey, Douglas S., and Eggers, Mitchell L. "The Ecology of Inequality: Minorities and the Concentration of Poverty, 1970–1980."

 American Journal of Sociology 95(5):1153–1188, 1990.
- Orfield, Gary. "Minorities and Suburbanization." In *Critical Perspectives* on *Housing*, eds. Rachel Bratt, Chester Hartman, and Ann Meyerson. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1986.
- Phelan, Thomas J., and Schneider, Mark. "Race, Ethnicity, and Class in American Suburbs." *Urban Affairs Review* 31(5):659–680, 1996.
- Rosenbaum, James E. "Black Pioneers: Do Their Moves to the Suburbs Increase Economic Opportunity for Mothers and Children?" *Housing Policy Debate* 2(4):1179–1214, 1991.
- ——. "Changing the Geography of Opportunity by Expanding Residential Choice: Lessons from the Gautreaux Program." *Housing Policy Debate* 6(1), 1995.
- Vandell, Kerry D. "Market Factors Affecting Spatial Heterogeneity Among Urban Neighborhoods." *Housing Policy Debate* 6(1):141–162, 1995.
- Wilson, Carter A. "Restructuring and the Growth of Concentrated Poverty in Detroit." *Urban Affairs Quarterly* 28(2):187–205, 1992.
- Yinger, John. *Housing Discrimination Study: Incidence of Discrimination and Variations in Discriminatory Behavior*. Washington, D C: Urban Institute, 1991.
- Zubrinsky, Camille L., and Bobo, Lawrence. "Prismatic Metropolis: Race and Residential Segregation in the City of the Angels." *Social Science Research* 25:335–374, 1996.

Job Access/Dispersal

Cervero, Robert. "Jobs/Housing Balance and Regional Mobility." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 55(2):136–151, 1989.

- ——. "Jobs/Housing Balance as Public Policy." *Urban Land* 50(10), 1991.
- Cervero, Robert; Rood, Timothy; and Appleyard, Bruce. *Job Accessibility* as a Performance Indicator: An Analysis of Trends and their Social Policy Implications. Working Paper No. 692. Berkeley, CA: Institute of Urban and Regional Development, University of California, 1996.
- Cooke, T., and Shumway, J. "Developing the Spatial Mismatch Hypothesis: Problems of Accessibility to Employment for Low-Wage Central City Labor." *Urban Geography* 12:310–323, 1991.
- Gottlieb, Paul D. "Neighborhood Development in the Metropolitan Economy: A Policy." *Journal of Urban Affairs* 19(2), 1997.
- Holzer, Harry J. "The Spatial Mismatch Hypothesis: What Has the Evidence Shown?" *Urban Studies* 28(1):105–122, 1995.
- Hughes, Mark Alan. "A Mobility Strategy for Improving Opportunity." Housing Policy Debate 6(1), 1995.
- Kain, John F. "Housing Segregation, Negro Employment, and Metropolitan Decentralization." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 82:175–197, 1968.
- ——. "The Spatial Mismatch Hypothesis: Three Decades Later." *Housing Policy Debate* 3(2):371–460, 1992.
- Popkin, Susan J.; Rosenbaum, James E.; and Meaden, Patricia M. "Labor Market Experiences of Low-Income Black Women in Middle-Class Suburbs: Evidence from a Survey of Gautreaux Program Participants." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 12(3):556–573, 1993.
- Taylor, Brian D., and Ong, Paul M. Racial and Ethnic Variations in Employment Access: An Examination of Residential Location and Commuting in Metropolitan Areas. Working Paper. Berkeley, CA: University of California Transportation Center, 1993.
- Turner, Susan C. "Barriers to a Better Break: Employer Discrimination and Spatial Mismatch in Metropolitan Detroit." *Journal of Urban Affairs* 19(2), 1997.

LULUs

Bank of America. *Beyond Sprawl: New Patterns of Growth to Fit the New California*. San Francisco: Bank of America, 1995.

- Brewster, George B. Land Recycling and the Creation of Sustainable Communities: A Strategy for Ensuring Prosperity and Quality of Life for Californians in the 21st Century. San Francisco: California Center for Land Recycling, 1998.
- Cooperrider, Allen Y.; Wilcove, David S. et al. *Defending the Desert:*Conserving Biodiversity on BLM Lands in the Southwest. New York: Environmental Defense Fund, 1995.
- Dear, Michael. "Understanding and Overcoming the NIMBY Syndrome." Journal of the American Planning Association 58(3):288–300, 1992.
- DiMento, J.F., and Graymer, L., eds. Confronting Regional Challenges: Approaches to LULUs, Growth, and Other Vexing Governance Problems. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 1993.
- Epstein, Lois N.; Greetham, Stephen; and Karuba, Anna. *Ranking Refineries: What Do We Know About Oil Refinery Pollution from Right-to-Know Data?* Washington, DC: Environmental Defense Fund, 1995.
- Governor's Interagency Council on Growth Management. *Shaping California's Future: A Growth Strategy for the Golden State.*Sacramento, CA: Governor's Office of Planning and Research, 1993.
- ———. Strategic Growth: Taking Charge of the Future: A Blueprint for California. Sacramento, CA: Governor's Office of Planning and Research, 1993.
- Horah, Jan and Heather, Scott. *NIMBYs and LULUs: Not-In-My-Back-Yard and Locally-Unwanted-Land-Uses*. Bibliography. Chicago: Council of Planning Librarians, 1993.
- Institute for Ecological Health. *Sierra Foothill Biodiversity: From Peril to Conservation*. http://thecity.sfsu.edu/users/IEF/html/snf3.html, 1996.
- Kunofsky, Judith. *Policy Before Planning: Solving California's Growth Problems*. Sacramento, CA: Sierra Club California, 1991.
- Madison, Mary et al. *The Twenty-First Century Study: Preserving California's Natural and Human Environment.* Sacramento, CA: Planning and Conservation League Foundation, January 1991.
- Natural Resources Defense Council. *Testing the Waters 1998: Has Your Vacation Beach Cleaned Up Its Act?* New York: Natural Resources Defense Council, 1998.

- Palmer, Tim, ed. *California's Threatened Environment: Restoring the Dream.* Washington, DC: Island Press, 1993.
- President's Council on Sustainable Development. Sustainable America: A New Consensus for Prosperity, Opportunity, and a Healthy Environment for the Future. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, February 1996.
- Sanders, Steve. Managing Growth in California: A Blueprint for Economic and Environmental Recovery. Sacramento, CA: Senate Office of Research, 1993.
- Senate Urban Growth Policy Project. *Does California Need a Policy to Manage Urban Growth?* Sacramento, CA: Senate Office of Research, 1989.
- ———. Prosperity, Equity, and Environmental Quality: Meeting the Challenge of California's Growth. Sacramento, CA: Senate Office of Research, July 1991.
- Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project. Summary of the Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project Report. Davis CA: Centers for Water and Wildland Resources, University of California, 1996.

Third World & Developing Countries

- Cleveland, David A.; Murray, Stephen C.; Alcorn, Janis B. et al. "The World's Crop: Genetic Resources and the Rights of Indigenous Farmers." *Current Anthropology* 38(4):477–515, Aug-Oct 1997.
- Jagadish, K.S., and Glaeser, Berhard. "Housing, Sustainable Development and the Rural Poor: A Study of Tamil Nadu." *Science, Technology & Society* 1(2):367–371, July-Dec 1996.
- Meinzen-Dick, Ruth S.; Brown, Lynn R.; Feldstein, Hilary Sims; and Quisumbing, Agnes R. "Gender, Property Rights, and Natural Resources." *World Development* 25(8):1303–1315.
- Olsen, Barbara. "Environmentally Sustainable Development and Tourism: Lessons from Negril, Jamaica." *Human Organization* 56(3):285–293, Fall 1997.
- Pretes, Michael. "Development and Infinity." *World Development* 25(9):1421–1430, September 1997.
- Silva, Eduardo. "The Politics of Sustainable Development: Native Forest Policy in Chile, Venezuela, Costa Rica and Mexico." *Journal of Latin American Studies* 29(2):457–493, May 1997.

Rural Economic Sustainability

- Derounian, James, and Fairlie, Simon. "Low Impact Development: Planning and People in a Sustainable Countryside." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 40(3):407, May 1997.
- Dove, Michael R., and Kammen, Daniel M. "The Epistemology of Sustainable Resource Use: Managing Forest Products, Swiddens, and High-Yielding Variety Crops." *Human Organization* 56(1):91–101, Spring 1997.
- Jackson, Cecile. "Sustainable Development at the Sharp End: Field-Worker Agency in a Participatory Project." *Development in Practice* 7(3):237–247, August 1997.
- McManus, Phil; Kirkby, John; O'Keefe, Phil; and Timberlake, Lloyd, eds. "Review Essay The Earthscan Reader in Sustainable Development." *Journal of Rural Studies* 13(1):113–120, January 1997.
- Meares, Alison C. "Making the Transition from Conventional to Sustainable Agriculture: Gender, Social Movement Participation, and Quality of Life on the Family Farm." *Rural Sociology* 62(1):21–47, Spring 1997.
- Park, Chris, and Stiles, Daniel, eds. "Social Aspects of Sustainable Dryland Management." *Journal of Rural Studies* 13(1):133, January 1997.
- Platteau, Jean-Philippe. "Mutual Insurance as an Elusive Concept in Traditional Rural Communities." *The Journal of Development Studies* 33(6):764–796, August 1997.
- Ridler, Neil B. "Rural Development in the Context of Conflictual Resource Usage." *Journal of Rural Studies* 13(1):65–73, January 1997.
- Schwarzweller, Harry K., and Davidson, Andrew P. "Perspectives on Regional and Enterprise Marginality: Dairying in Michigan's North Country." *Rural Sociology* 62(2):157–179, Summer 1997.
- Traugot, Michael. "The Great 'Changeover' at the Farm." *Communities* 94:56-60, Spring 1997.

Global Sustainability

Bater, James H., and Kakazu, Hiroshi. "Sustainable Development of Small Island Economies." *Annals of Tourism Research* 24(1):255–256, 1997.

- Bossel, Hartmut. "Ecosystems and Society: Implications for Sustainable Development." *World Futures* 47(2-3):143–213, 1996.
- Colgan, Charles S. "Sustainable Development and Economic Development Policy: Lessons from Canada." *Economic Development Quarterly* 11(2):123–137, May 1997.
- Garcia, Ernest. "Myth, Politics, and the Global/Local Debate." *Capitalism, Nature, Socialism* 7(4)28:121–125, December 1996.
- Godfrey, Kerry B.; Coccossis, Harry; and Nijkamp, Peter, eds. "Sustainable Tourism Development." *Annals of Tourism Research* 24(2):489–491, April 1997.
- Harman, Willis W. "Creating a Sustainable Global Society: The Evolutionary Path." *World Futures* 47(4):277–310, 1996.
- Hjalager, Anne-Mette. "Tourism and the Environment: The Innovation Connection." *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 4(4):201–218, 1996.
- Johnson, Claude D., and Kramer, Joyce M. "The Critical Need to Achieve Global Sustainability."
- Newby, P.; Coccossis, H.; and Nijkamp, P., eds. "Sustainable Tourism Development." *Regional Studies* 30(6):622–623, October 1996.
- Novek, Joel. "Technological Change and Global Change: Toward a Flexible Environment." *Research in Community Sociology* 7:63–94, 1997.
- Purser, Ronald E. "Designing Post-Industrial Organizations for Ecological Sustainability." *World Futures* 46(4):203–222, 1996.
- Van Den Heever, and Mauritz, Christiaan. "Social Responsibility: A Fundamental Deliberation." *Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social Sciences* 58(3):1098-A, September 1997.

Sustainable Development and Public Policy

- Dovers, Stephen R. "Sustainability: Demands on Policy." *Journal of Public Policy* 16(3):303–318, Sept-Dec 1996.
- Jameton, Andrew, and Pierce, Jessica. "Toward a Sustainable US Health Policy: Local Congruities and Global Incongruities." *Social Indicators Research* 40(1-2):125–146, 1997.
- Keys, Kacy Collons. "The Community Development Quota Program: Inequity and Failure in Privatization Policy." *American Indian Culture and Research Journal* 21(1):31–71, 1997.

- Punter, John V., and Carmona, Matthew. "Cosmetics or Critical Constraints? The Role of Landscape in Design Politics in English Development Plans." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 40(2):173–197, March 1997.
- Rogers, Peter, and Daly, Herman E. "Beyond Growth: The Economics of Sustainable Development." *Population and Development Review* 22(4):783–789, December 1996.
- Rohter, Ira. "A Green Economy for Hawaii." *Social Process in Hawaii* 35:124–144, 1994.
- Sachs, Wolfgang. "Ecology, Justice and the End of Development." Development 40(2):8-14, June 1997.
- Sauer, James B. "Economy and Schemes of Recurrence: Sustainability as an Economic and Ethical Value." *Humanomics* 12(4):78–112, 1996.
- Vingilis, Evelyn, and Sarkella, Jennifer". Determinants and Indicators of Health and Well-Being: Tools for Educating Society." *Social Indicators Research* 40(1-2):159–178, 1997.

Planning Methods: Organizational Design

- Brown, Leslie H. "Organizations for the 21st Century? Cooperatives and 'New Forms' of Organization." *Canadian Journal of Sociology/Cahiers canadiens de sociologie* 22(1):65–93, Winter 1997.
- Dreborg, Karl H. "Essence of Backcasting." *Futures* 28(9):813–828, November 1996.
- Driscoll, Cathy. "Fostering Constructive Conflict Management in a Multi-Stakeholder Context: The Case of the Forest Round Table on Sustainable Development." *The International Journal of Conflict Management* 7(2):156–172, April 1996.

Values/Ideology

- Ballard, Heidi Renate. "The Ideology of Development." *Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social Sciences* 57(10):4560-A, April 1997.
- Burkett, Paul. "Value, Capital and Nature: Some Ecological Implications of Marx's Critique of Political Economy." *Science and Society* 60(3):332–359, Fall 1996.
- Dwivedi, O.P. "Environmental Stewardship: Our Spiritual Heritage for Sustainable Development." *Journal of Developing Societies* 12(2):217–231, December 1996.
- Galjart, Benno. "Sustainability as the Maintenance of Things: Analogies for an Environmental Sociology." *Innovation* 9(4):477–489, December 1996.
- Lovejoy, Derek. "Limits to Growth?" *Science and Society* 60(3):266–278, Fall 1996.
- Lozada, Hector R., and Mintu-Wimsatt, Alma. "Sustainable Development and International Business: A Holistic Perspective." *Journal of Euromarketing* 5(3):65–74, 1996.